WASTE MANAGEMENT PRACTICES OF REAL ESTATE FIRMS

By

Wumbei Abdulai

(B.Sc. Real Estate)

A thesis Submitted to the Department of Construction, Technology and Management,

Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology, Kumasi in Partial Fulfilment of

Requirements for the award degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE IN CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT

November, 2019

DECLARATION

I hereby declare that this submission is my own work and that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, it contains no material previously published or written by another person material which to a substantial extent has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma at the Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology, Kumasi or any other educational institution, except where due acknowledgement is made in the thesis.

Wumbei Abdulai		
(PG5704318)	Signature	Date
Student name & ID		
Certified by:		
Dr. Barbara Simons		
Name of Supervisor	Signature	Date
Certified by:		
Prof. Bernard Kofi Baiden		
Name of Head of Departmen	t Signature	Date

ABSTRACT

Waste management remain a serious challenge globally, with huge sums of money spent towards managing waste across the globe. Available statistics indicate that local governments in Africa are currently spending about US\$15 billion per year on urban solid waste management. This substantiate the need for effective waste management practices among the real estate firms, since it is anticipated that, by 2025 the spending on solid waste management activities would have increased by 200 per cent. The study specifically looked at the significant waste management practices adopted by real estate firms and the challenges and problems local real estate firms face on construction waste management practices. To achieve these objectives, the researcher adopted the mixed method survey design approach and research questionnaire as data collection instrument. A sample of thirty (30) respondents were sampled across thirty (30) real estate development firms in the greater Accra region using non-probability (Judgmental sampling) sampling technique. Findings from the study revealed that, Waste Re-use is the significant waste management practice among real estate developers ranked first (1st) with a mean score of 4.38, this followed by Waste recycling with a mean score of 4.22. The least ranked waste management practice was however, Waste disposal with a mean score of 3.12. On the waste management practice used locally by real estate firms, findings revealed that most of the real estate developers in the Greater Accra region uses Waste Re-use, followed by waste recycling, and waste disposal with waste minimization being the least waste management practice used among real estate developers. Finally, on the challenges and problems of waste management practices, findings revealed that, the major challenges faced in waste management practice is inability of EPA to fully discharge their supervisory role to ensure that certain principles are adhered to in waste management and to provide waste management policy. It was followed by high cost of waste management and inadequate skilled labor on waste management which attained 60% endorsement from the respondents leaving lack of commitment on the part of project management to be last with 53.3% of agreement level by respondents. Based on these findings the researcher recommends, it is recommended that the EPA provides a Waste Management Plan or policy and to monitor to ensure that construction industry players adhered to best practices.

Keywords: Disposal, Demolition, Disposal, Minimization, Reuse, Recycling, Waste

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION	ii
ABSTRACT	iii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	vii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	viii
DEDICATION	ix
CHAPTER ONE	1
INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background of the Study	1
1.2 Statement of the Problem	2
1.3 Research Questions	4
1.4 Aim of the Study	5
1.5 Research Objectives	5
1.6 Significance/Justification of study	5
1.7 Scope and Limitation of the Study	6
1.8 Research Methodology	6
1.9 Organization of the research	6
CHAPTER TWO	0
LITERATURE REVIEW	
2.1 Overview	
2.2 Overview of Waste in the Construction Industry	
2.2 Waste Management Concepts	12
2.4 Factors Influencing Construction Waste Management	13
2.4.1 Design Changes	13
2.4.2 Consideration of Construction Waste Reduction in Design	14
2.4.3 Regulation and Guidelines	14
2.4.4 Site Space for Performing Waste Management	15
2.4.5 Adoption of Technology	15

2.4.6 Waste Management Culture	16
2.5 Environmental Impact of Construction Waste	16
2.6 Classification of Construction Waste	19
2.7 Empirical Review of Construction Waste	20
CHAPTER THREE	23
RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	23
3.1 Introduction	23
3.2 Research Design	23
3.3 Population of the Study	23
3.4 Sample and Sampling Size	24
3.5 Methods of Data Collection	25
3.6 Data Collection Instrument	26
3.7 Validity and Reliability of Data Collection Instrument	26
3.8 Ethical Consideration	27
3.9 Method of Data Analysis	27
CHAPTER FOUR	29
PRESENTATION OF RESULTS	29
4.1 Overview	29
4.2 Demographic Characteristics of Respondents	29
4.2.1 Educational Status of Respondents	29
4.2.2 Functional Role of Respondents	30
4.2.3 Work Experience of Respondents	31
4.2.4 Type of Real Estate Firm of Respondents	32
4.2.5 Structure of Ownership of Real Estate Firm	32
4.2.6 Years of Experience (Existence) of Real Estate Firms	33
4.3 Further Analysis	34
4.3.1 Significant Waste Management Practices Adopted by Real Estate Firms	34
4.3.2 Determining the significant waste management practices in the real estate	
industry	37

CHAPTER FIVE	42
SUMMARY OF KEY FINDINGS, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATION	IS 42
5.1 Overview	42
5.2 Summary of Key Findings	42
5.3 Conclusion	43
5.4 Recommendations for the Study	44
REFERENCES	45
APPENDIX	57

LIST OF TABLES

Table 4.1: Educational Status of Respondent	29
Table 4.2: Functional Roles of Respondents	30
Project manager	30
Table 4.3: Work Experience of Respondents	31
Table 4.4: Type (size) of Real Estate Firm of Respondents	32
Table 4.5: Structure of Ownership of Real Estate Firm	33
Table 4.6: Level of Existence of Firms	33
Table 4.7: Mean Score Ranking of Practices	37
Table 4.8: Mean score ranking of challenges and problems in the waste management	41

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would first and foremost express my profound gratitude to the Almighty Allah for the health, strength and protection throughout the work. I will also like to thank my Supervisor Dr Barbara for her guidance, patience and constructive criticisms giving to me, may God bless and increase you in knowledge.

I will also want to appreciate and thank the numerous estate firms who assisted in providing me with information more especially, Manet, Gym Ray Estate, Devtraco, Trassaco etc.

Lastly, my sincere appreciation goes to my brother, Abdulai Seidu for his contribution and Madam Henrietta Kley for assisting me in data collection.

DEDICATION

I dedicate this work to my entire family. I'm much grateful for the support, motivation and prayers given me throughout the program. May the Almighty Allah bless you all. To madam Shamima, I say thank you for encouragement and assistance.

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background of the Study

Globally, waste volumes are increasing quickly, even faster than the rate of urbanization. According to Hoornweg and Bhada-Tata (2012), the world cities are currently generating about 1.3 billion tonnes of solid waste per year. This volume is expected to increase to 2.2 billion tonnes by 2025 Moya et al. (2017). As countries urbanise, their economic wealth increases. As standards of living and disposable incomes increase, consumption of goods and services increases, which results in a corresponding increase in the amount of waste generated (Hoornweg and Bhada-Tata, 2012).

According to Amoo and Fagbenle (2013), "available statistics indicate that local governments in Africa are known to be spending about US\$15 billion per year on urban solid waste management currently". This figure is used in collection of averagely not less than "90 percent of the waste in high -income countries, between 50 to 80 percent in middle -income countries, and only 30 to 60 percent in low-income countries" Amoo and Fagbenle (2013). It is anticipated that, "by 2025 the spending on solid waste management activities would have increased by 200 per cent" (Hoornweg and Thomas, 2013).

Although solid waste is generated by different household and economic activities, the construction industry has always been considered as one of the major producers of waste (Al-Hajj and Hamani, 2011). Construction waste is not by nature an environmentally friendly substance; the sector has always been a major generator of construction waste (Lachimpadi and Mokhtar 2012; Shen and Tam, 2012). Construction waste reduction is important not for the perspective of efficiency only, but also concerns growing in recent years about the adverse

effect on the entire cost of a building the buildings and on the environment. This kind of waste typically "accounts for between 15 and 30% of urban waste generated annually" (Hoornweg & Bhada-Tata, 2012). Poon et al. (2014), defines construction waste as the debris generated through construction activities either by demolition of already existing structures/building or leftover/unused concrete slaps and woods at construction sites. They indicated that, managing waste from construction comes with a lot of challenges to both the contractor and the client due to its complicated nature. Waste generated from construction site seem to be a mixture of several debris which make it very difficult to separate or recycle unlike solid waste from household activities.

Realizing the negative impact of construction waste to the environment, governments at both national and international levels have introduced various policies and regulations to make construction activities more sustainable (Akadiri and Fadiya, 2013). The local industry on their part has also been promoting measures such as establishing waste management plans, reduction and recycling of construction and demolition wastes, providing in-house training on environmental management, and legal measures on environmental protection (Shen and Tam, 2012).

1.2 Statement of the Problem

More than half of the world's population currently live in cities, and a projected 70 percent will be living in urban areas by 2050 (UN-HABITAT, 2014). In the increasingly global and connected world, urbanisation is a global phenomenon. Natural population growth, economic growth, rapid urbanization, immigration and rural urban drift has changed the spatial configuration of most cities in the world. According to the United Nations (2014), the world

population has grown rapidly since 1950, ranging from 746 million to 3.9 billion as at 2014. Asia, despite its low level of urbanization is about 53 per cent of the world's urban population which is followed by Europe being 14 per cent, the Caribbean and Latin America being 13 per cent. Africa is urbanizing at a very fast rate. Its urbanization soared from 15 per cent in 1960 to 40 per cent in 2010 and is projected to reach 60 per cent in 2050 (UN-HABITAT, 2010). This fast urbanization trend has called for the production of houses, roads, schools, hospitals and other infrastructure demands (Open Science Index, 2015). This demand consumes natural resources and also produces waste that consumes landfills.

In Ghana, housing supply is categorised into three; the self-built; private developers and the government (UN-HABITAT, 2006). The private developers of which real estate industry is inclusive is the second largest supplier of residential accommodation in housing sector. According to GREDA (2006) the real estate sector supply average 8% annually with chunk of the supply been self-incremental development from individuals. The housing demand of Ghana's capital city of Accra has brought about the upsurge in real estate developments. Currently over 80% of the developers are concentrated in Accra due to the ready market (Ghana Real Estates Developers Association 2012). These mass production and supply of housing has its own waste production that consumes landfills and resources as well.

The construction industry produces around 120 million tonnes of construction, demolition and excavation waste per year with only half of this currently being recycled or reclaimed (OMAN chapter, 2015). Due to the fast urban development, landfills are mostly rare and insufficient. In One hand, allocation of certain sites for land filling these materials requires land ownership and money and on the other hand, due to the placement of landfills far urban areas, transportation costs will be included too (Mehrdad et al., 2015).

Waste that emanates from construction site has recently become a major problem to the nation due to its negative impacts on the environment. Noraziah, et al. (2015) hold the view that, huge amounts of construction waste will cause destructive effects on the environment if they are not managed properly.

In addition to its negative impact on the environment by generating waste, consuming landfills, and natural unrecoverable resources, construction project costs increase significantly due to the amount of waste (Shant and Koch, 2014). This significant increase in project cost increases the completed property prices since real estate developers are not charitable organizations and will like to achieve a desired profit margin.

According to a study by Sagoe (2011), "the construction of roads, houses, bridges or anything for individuals or the government, involves many resources". Available literature on this important subject matter has been limited largely to solid waste generated from the household activities and hence provides a research gap to be filled by this current study.

1.3 Research Questions

From the research objectives, the study seeks to examine the following research questions:

- 1. What are the significant waste management practices adopted by real estate firms?
- 2. What are the problems and challenges inherent in the waste management practices?

1.4 Aim of the Study

The main aim of the study is to assess the best significant waste management practices adopted by real estate firms and their challenges in the practices.

1.5 Research Objectives

The main purpose of the study is to assess waste management in the construction industry. Specifically, the study seeks

- To assess the significant waste management practices adopted by real estate firms.
- 2. To examine the problems and challenges inherent in the waste management practices.

1.6 Significance/Justification of study

This study could not have been relevant to the real estate and the construction industry and Ghana at any period of time than now, considering the urbanization rate, the ready market for real estate development and the president of Ghana's vision to making the capital city the cleanness city in the African continent. The available literature has provided statistics to the alarming increasing nature of waste generated from the construction industry in Ghana and hence for this vision to be realized there is the need to consider the construction as well as the real estate industry as a key contribution factor to solid waste producers and formulate/enforce laws to help mitigate or end this menace.

On project cost escalation, this study seeks to draw the attention of real estate developers in the industry to appreciate the factors that sprout up the cost of construction so that they can reduce the waste level and as such improve on productivity and the final prices of buildings.

1.7 Scope and Limitation of the Study

The study was focused on building construction projects undertaken by private real estate developers within the Greater Accra region. The researcher assessed the waste management practices put in place by these real estate companies, considering the significant practices, challenges, possible adoption of best practices across the industry. The study cannot do away with constraints in coming out with the results. There are several estate development firms in the region and the study did not represent the entire population of these estate. Secondly time factor and resources has not permitted a carefully access to all firms for salient information.

1.8 Research Methodology

The study made use of both primary and secondary information. Other sources of information were from books, journals, pertinent articles, and published and unpublished dissertations of students. Primary data involved the use of self-administered questionnaires to industry player's (contractors and consultants). The questionnaire incorporated the use of close ended questions and a Likert scale to rate and answer questions pose to respondents. The questionnaires provided feedback on views/opinion of respondents about construction waste management at the project site and also all relevant question to provide answers to the research objectives. SPSS version 20.0 was used to analyse the data collected from the field.

1.9 Organization of the research

The study is organized into five chapters with the opening chapter presenting the background to the study, problem statement, research objectives as well as research questions etc. the second chapter presents the review of literature, presenting the theoretical and conceptual

framework which establishes the need for the study. The third chapter spells out the methodological steps that the researcher used to gather data and analyzed the data to make inferential interpretation. The fourth chapter presents the data analyzed and finally, the five chapter presents summary of findings, conclusion and recommendations.

CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Overview

This chapter explored all available previous studies on the subject matter. On this chapter, readers will be acquainted with existing studies relative to the issues covered in the study. It thus provides the theoretical framework for the study and partly establishes the need and relevance for the study. the literature review consists the following; overview of construction waste, concept of waste, factors influencing construction waste management, environmental impact of construction waste, classification of construction waste, environmental impact of construction waste and empirical review of construction waste.

2.2 Overview of Waste in the Construction Industry

Previous studies have established that the construction industry generates high level of waste from various material usage. For instance, the construction industry consumes 3 billion tonnes of raw materials from the green environment annually while one quarter of the world timber is used in the construction industry (UNEP, 2007; WGBC, 2010). It is of no doubt that majority of the waste generated emanate from construction industry related activities (Ameh and Itodo, 2013).

Construction waste is hazardous to the environment (Begum et al., 2006; Chen et al. 2000; Teo and Loosemore 2001). The main types of construction waste include unavoidable waste (or natural waste); and avoidable waste (Formoso et al.1999). However, Ekanayake and Ofori (2000) classified construction waste into categories of material, labour and machinery waste. According to Environmental Protection Department (2000) material waste comprises

unwanted materials from construction emanating from rejected structures, materials ordered in excess; and discarded materials (Agyekum et al. 2012).

According to Dania, Kehinde & Bala (2007) construction wastes are complex waste stream, made up of a wide variety of materials which are in various forms such as building debris, rubble, earth, concrete, steel, timber, and mixed site clearance materials, arising from various construction activities including land excavation or formation, civil and building construction site, clearance, demolition activities, roadwork, and building renovation. Adding to this literature, Napier (2012), opined that waste in construction occurs in various stages in the construction cycle ranging from foundation works to finishing and they emanate from wooden materials, concrete, gravels, aggregate, masonry, metals, plastic, plumbing and electrical fixtures, glass and material handling.

According to Ameh and Itodo (2013) the commonest materials subject to waste generation on construction site during construction operation include mortar from plastering/rendering; and labour-only subcontracting options. Ekanayake and Ofori (2000) noted that material waste is "any material, apart from earth materials, which needs to be transported elsewhere from the construction site or used within the construction site itself for the purpose of land filling, incineration, recycling, re-using or composting, other than the intended specific purpose of the project due to materials damage, excess, non-use, or non-compliance with the specifications or being a byproduct of the construction process." To summarize, Ekanayake and Ofori (2000) in their definition perceive sources of waste in construction as (1) design; (2) procurement; (3) handling of materials; and (4) operation (Al-Hajj and Hamani, 2011). The investment required for the mitigation of unavoidable waste is greater than the economic benefits achieved while the cost of avoidable waste is higher than the cost of its prevention

(Agyekum et al. 2012). Similarly, the level of unavoidable waste is dependent on technology (Polat and Ballard, 2004; Formoso et al., 1999; (Womack and Jones 1996). Waste categories are dependent on their sources. In this direction Bossink and Brouwers (1996) identified sources of waste in the construction industry as emanating from construction design, procurement, material handling, operation and residue. According to Al-Hajj and Hamani (2011) construction waste are categorized by their state (solid, liquid or gaseous); by their characteristics (inert, combustible, bio-degradable, hazardous or nuclear); or by their origin (processing, household, emission treatment, construction and demolition or energy conversion).

Waste in construction has also been classified according to time and process (Al-Hajj and Hamani, 2011). Time and process waste is generated from activities that take time, resources or space without adding value (Al-Hajj and Hamani, 2011). Adding on, Formoso et al. (1999) also observed that time and process wastes are losses produced by activities that generate direct or indirect costs but do not add value to the product from the point of view of the client. However, Al-Hajj and Hamani (2011) noted that waste generated through time and process can be minimized by lean construction.

According to Papargyropoulou et al. (2011) "construction waste generation from unsustainable building materials are also linked to the hostile environmental impacts of the construction industry". Similarly, Fishbein (1998) has asserted that 10 to 30 per cent of wastes disposed of emanates from construction activities. As a result, Begum (2009) noted that construction waste is one of the single largest waste stream because of the low priority given to waste management by contractors. The construction industry generates significant amount of solid waste which mostly remain unmanageable hence creating environmental conditions

(see for instance UNESCAP, 2009). Majority of these solid wastes emanating from the construction industry are mostly generated in urban areas (Mohd et al., 1998).

Wilson et al. (1998) identified the most solid materials which generate waste on site through handling as timber, metal, masonry and plasterboard and paper products. In addition, waste minimization through reuse and recycling are virtually non-existent in the construction sector and natural resources required as building materials are available at relatively low cost (Begun et al., 2009). Waste minimization efforts must start very early during the construction process (Al-Hajj and Hamani, 2011). Furthermore, there is lack of mandatory requirement for construction firms to observe the practice of sustainable resource and waste management practices (Begun et al., 2009). To reduce the mounting rate of waste management menace in the construction industry, construction industry regulatory bodies are required to develop the legal and regulatory framework through the formulation of "Construction Industry Master Plan" (Construction Industry Development Board, 2007). Similarly, waste management plans to aid contractors or project managers to forecast and keep record of amount of construction waste to be generated to help reduce the level of waste generation in the construction industry (WRAP, 2007). A study by Defra, (2009) revealed that construction waste management plan is aimed at improving materials resource efficiency by implementing reuse, recovery and recycling; and to minimize issues of illegal dumping by properly documenting waste removal processes. The construction waste management plan which commences during the preplanning stage and throughout the duration of the project requires the cooperation of all parties involved in construction project delivery, notably the client, contractor, designer, engineer, subcontractors, workers and even the suppliers to ensure efficient and effective construction waste management. The construction waste management plan is mandatory in some

developed countries including England, Singapore; United States inter alia (LEED, 2004; BRE, 2009). It is also required to develop key performance indicators and training of staff in the crucial aspects of construction site waste management in the management of construction waste (Papargyropoulou et al. 2011). Monitoring, evaluation and reporting are also required during the duration of the entire construction waste management.

2.2 Waste Management Concepts

"The business of ensuring free environment from contaminants and effects of waste materials is generally termed waste management". "Gbekor (2003), for instance, has referred to waste management as involving the collection, transport, treatment and disposal of waste including after care of disposal sites". In relation to this, Gilpin (1996) also defined waste management as "purposeful, systematic control of the generation, storage, collection, transportation, separation, processing, recycling, recovery and disposal of solid waste in a sanitary, aesthetically acceptable and economical manner".

It is evident from literature that, the practice of waste management is aimed at protecting the environment from the polluting effects of waste materials in order to protect public health and the natural environment. Thus, "the priority of a waste management system must always be the provision of a cleansing service which helps to maintain the health and safety of citizens and their environment" according to Cooper, (1999).

Further studies by Gilpin (1996) regards the practice of construction waste management as a professional practice which goes beyond the physical aspects of handling waste. It also "involves preparing policies, determining the environmental standards, fixing emission rates,

enforcing regulations, monitoring air, water and soil quality and offering advice to government, industry and land developers, planners and the public" (Gilpin, 1996).

The work of Gilpin again opined that "Waste management, therefore, involves a wide range of stakeholders who perform various functions to help maintain a clean, safe and pleasant physical environment in human settlements in order to protect the health and well-being of the population and the environment".

2.4 Factors Influencing Construction Waste Management

Several reviewed literature has identified the factors influencing construction waste management. These factors encompass "changes in design, consideration of reducing construction waste in design, investing on construction waste management, regulations, guidelines, space needed to perform waste management on site, adoption of technologies, waste reduction cost and waste management culture within an organization" according to (Nagapan et al., 2012; Yuan 2013; SWCorp Malaysia 2015.)

2.4.1 Design Changes

Changes in design one of the most influencing factors of construction waste management according to (Ekanayake and Ofori 2000; Faniran and Caban 1998; Yuan 2013). "The design change can be identified as an error attributed to construction materials which have been purchased based on the original design". According to Yuan (2013) "after changes to design have been taken, the material can no longer be resold or returned to the suppliers or vendor and this situation contributes to the generation of waste".

2.4.2 Consideration of Construction Waste Reduction in Design

Literature from the various research has revealed that averagely "33% of waste generated in construction industry are related to project design errors" according to (Osmani et al., 2008). This indicates how big design errors can contribute to the construction waste from the early stage of construction. "To reduce the generation of waste in construction, well prepared design stage will directly reduce the possibility of waste generation in construction projects" (Innes, 2004). The study of (Jaillon et al. 2009; Yuan 2013) believe that in order to reduce and ensure proper waste reduction strategies, "best practices are taken into the design stage such as design for standard size and add the prefabricated or adopting modular and the involvement of all other professional team members in the process".

2.4.3 Regulation and Guidelines

A study by Puopiel (2010), reported that, the ever increasing number of generated construction waste year by year in Ghana is a result of no adequate enforcement measures are taking into consideration by the regulatory authorities, they also indicated that, focus or special regulation or guidelines to be followed by the construction industry is non-existence making the industry players very reluctant in acting right. In developed countries like Britain, Australia, Japan, and others country, they have specific guidelines and regulation for management of construction waste according to Puopiel (2010). "Considering the example of Japan which had adopted an integrated waste and material management approach that promotes dematerialization and resource efficiency". "The government's 'sound material cycle society' initiative launched in 2000 brought with it a number of new regulatory codes including specific laws targeting construction materials" (Ismam and Ismail 2014). "In 2002 Japan introduced the construction

waste recycling law, which has resulted in high rates of recycling". For example, 99% of concrete had been recycled in 2006. "The law enforces the recycling of a broad range of construction and demolition materials". "Demolition contractors are required to separate and recycle specific construction wastes such as concrete, asphalt, and timber" (Ismam and Ismail 2014)

2.4.4 Site Space for Performing Waste Management

In developing country, one of the methods for managing the construction waste in site, is to provide space for waste management. Site space refers to the space for sorting and segregation, handling and manage the waste. "Sorting at the construction site is widely useful as an effective way in achieving a higher rate of waste reuse and recycling" (Shen et al. 2007; Yuan 2013). "Developed country such as Hong Kong found that given site space as an important factor than the influence of systematic construction waste management" (Poon et al. 2001). Previous study also proves that on site waste sorting could increase the rate of reuse and recycling and directly reduce the logistic cost and dumping cost (Poon et al. 2001; Hao et al. 2008; SWcorp Malaysia, 2015).

2.4.5 Adoption of Technology

The study by Yaun (2013) reported that, "the use of technologies could help to reduce, reuse or recycle construction waste". "The implementation of technologies such as innovations in construction project will contribute to the generation of construction waste". Previous studies proved that the employment of technologies such as "prefabrication, IBS, innovation of formwork and others technologies can minimize the current practices of construction waste

management, the barriers of implementing construction waste management and the potential factor in implementing of construction waste management" according to (Yaun 2013).

2.4.6 Waste Management Culture

Culture of waste management is related to the human behavior such as awareness of construction parties to get involved in construction waste management according to Yaun (2013). It has been found that "the awareness of waste management among practitioners and construction parties can save the resources and protect the environment" according to (Shen et al. 2007; Yuan 2013). Study has been conducted by (Poon et al. 2001) for revealing the understanding of both managers and site workers about waste reduction. Furthermore, in 2006, study conducted by (Poon et al. 2006) proved that "assessing architects' view on the origins of design waste that can minimize the waste design practices in the UK". "Finding from this study shows that the awareness and attitudes of the practitioners and construction parties in waste management are big factors that contributes to the reduction of waste and waste management" according to (Poon et al. 2006).

2.5 Environmental Impact of Construction Waste

The construction industry plays an indispensable role in providing physical infrastructure to meet the growing societal needs. On the other hand, it brings about detrimental effects, such as various forms of environmental pollution and resources depletion (Ofori, et al. 2000). The environmental consequences generated from the construction industry relate to many aspects including: (I) of large amounts of energy consumption during the processing of materials, construction processes and in the use of constructed structures; (ii) dust and gas emission

released during the production and transportation of materials and in some construction operations; (iii) disruption of people living in the vicinity of construction projects through traffic diversion, noise pollution and others; (iv) production of substantial volumes of waste; (v) waste water discharge; (vi) use of water resources; (vii) pollution from building materials; (viii) land use and (ix) substantial consumption of both renewable and non-renewable resources (Clements 2000); (Morledge and Morledge 2001); (Poon et al. 2001).

Construction waste has recently become a serious environmental problem in many cities across the globe (Cheung et al.1993). "Many construction industries generate serious environmental impacts, as compared to other industries and yet it lags far behind in implementing environmental management guide that will help mitigate the negative impacts". "The construction industry is in charge of producing a whole variety of wastes, the volume and type of which depends on factors such as the stage on the construction cycle, type of construction work and construction practices on site. International studies have shown that the construction industry contributes significantly to resource and environmental mismanagement" (Cheung et al.1993). "Some of the available statistics from literature indicate that the construction and operation of the built environment accounts for: 12-16% of fresh water consumption; 25% of wood harvested; 30-40% of energy consumption; 40% of virgin materials extracted and 20-30% emissions from greenhouse" (Cheung et al. 1993).

While the rapid economic demand creates the largest construction market in the world and brings about an unprecedented opportunity in the construction industry, Macozoma, (2002) stated emphatically that, "pollution resulting from construction activities has become a serious canker. It is stated from statistics that the annual solid waste from construction reaches 30-40% of the total urban solid waste in China".

Sorting and selection of construction waste materials also influence the environmental impact of construction. There are several factors that leads to high level of impact from wastes materials and the way they are processed. Similar materials can have greatly different environmental impacts depending on these factors. Factors considered as important in the influence of selection of residential construction materials are based on their durability compared to intended life span, lifecycle energy embodiment, source and environmental impact of all component materials and processes, recycling potential, and distances with respect to transfer of material components.

The current increase in the volume of waste in the construction industry contributes to the rapid depletion of green vegetation and most of the pollutants from air, water and other ecosystems. Water pollution among others will also result from the materials extraction process. When material ends up as waste it can be reused or recycled thereby minimizing and reducing the impact on the environment through less processing and less energy usage. The construction industry is considered to be the biggest consumer of raw material in the UK, about 90% of non-energy minerals extracted in Great Britain are used for construction materials 260m tonnes of material are extracted for use as aggregate and other construction material.

Waste contains embodied energy as cited by (Treloar et al. 2003) in Boustead and Hancock (1979) which is "the energy consumed during extraction, processing, manufacture and transportation at all stages of the cycle". When material is recycled the embodied energy within that material means there will be less energy needed in processing it.

According to (Burnley 2007) National Waste Management Strategy can simple change the management and production processes can aid in the use of new innovations can save the

amount of waste being generated and the amount of energy being used. It is also clear from available literature that, construction of buildings, their materials and occupant's use of services is responsible for 50% of CO2 emissions in the UK. A push for more sustainable construction is required as the Government has targets for a 60% reduction in emissions by 2050 less than the 1990 levels. Metal, glass and hard wood timber have a high embodied energy. Mostly, reuse and recycling is given high priority towards waste minimization. By using reclaimed and recycled materials, 70% of embodied energy can be saved. This could result in cost savings of about 40% of the building price,

Gypsum is known to be harmful at dumpsite as a result of leaching of substances such a sulphates into the ground, this is harmful to humans if it contaminates water bodies. Gypsum records "the largest portion of the non-inert waste in the UK, at 36%, of the waste stream at construction sites" according to (Burnley 2001).

2.6 Classification of Construction Waste

It is very well recognized that the construction industry is not environmentally friendly. A part from consuming large amount of natural resources, it has been criticized to generate high level of solid waste. (Amaratunga 2006) argued that construction sector consumes averagely 25% of virgin wood and 40% of raw stone, gravel and sand globally every year. Duke (2001) also stated that "other than solid waste; poor quality that causes re-work, material double handling, schedule delays, commuting within the job, waiting for decision and poor constructability are considered other types of construction waste". "Construction waste can be grouped into two principle components"

- Time wastes which includes waiting periods, stoppages, clarifications, variation in information, rework, ineffective work, delays in plan activities, and abnormal wear of equipment.
- Material wastes comprising over ordering, overproduction, wrong handling, wrong storage, and manufacturing defects.

The waste produced by the burning trash furnaces includes more than 200 different dioxin compounds and generates large amount of CO2 emission. Demolition wreckage and package waste may be categorized in three groups in the construction process. Due to the variety of activities on construction sites, construction waste may include plywood, platform, brick, paint, metal, copper, aluminium, concrete, electrical cable, rebar, paper, plastic, electrical device, steel, and much more.

2.7 Empirical Review of Construction Waste

Farmoso's research (2002) in Hong Kong conducted on 32 construction buildings since June 1992 to February 1993. The research aimed to reduce the higher waste material in the future and the impact to the environment, the waste material found was 2.4% to 26.5% of the material purchased. The research in the Netherland conducted on 5 house residential buildings since April 1993 to June 1994 (Bossink and Browers, 1996). The research concluded that the waste material found was 1.0% to 10.0% of the material purchased, the waste material caused by mainly from the design phase, material supply, poor material handling and storage. The research also conducted in Australia on 15 residential buildings (Forsythe and Marsden, 1999). The waste material found was 2.5% to 22.0% of the material purchased; this research provided the cost model of waste material occurring in the project. The research in Brazil

conducted on 3 residential buildings since 1986 to 1987 (Pinto and Agopayan, 1994). The research found that waste material was 11.0% to 17.0%.

(Rani 2017) conducted the assessment to the waste material in housing construction in Tanjung Bunga Area, Makasar based on waste material resource criteria and works causing waste material. The analysis output showed that the cement material had the highest waste value which was the main resources came from the residual of the stucco work, the waste for the wood material came from the residual of the formwork, the waste for the ceramic especially came from the residual of tilling work size 30x30, the waste for the brick material mainly came from the mishandling in the wall construction work, the waste for the paint material come the mishandling in the basic painting work (meni), for the iron material waste came from the measurement error. This research also gave the solution for the waste material reduction effort and the recommendation for the waste material coefficient that can be used in the next project phase.

(Suryanto 2004) conducted the research on the analysis and evaluation of the waste material in store project construction in Surabaya. The research aimed to detect waste material quantity and causing factors, then categorized the waste material into direct waste and indirect waste, and proposed a cost model for waste material in the store construction. The research data was obtained from questionnaire survey which was distributed to the construction actors, and also field observation in store project construction in Surabaya. The outputs of the research showed that: (1) waste material volume for the brick (12.51%) and the sand (11.39%) became the highest values, (2) cost model showed that the minimum value of the waste cost (good waste management practice) was 3.33%, and the maximum value of the waste cost (poor waste

management practice) was 4.67% Surabaya. This research was conducted by distributing the form the total cost of the store unit cost, so the potential waste saving cost became 1.34%. (Rani 2017) conducted analysis and evaluation of the waste material in store project construction in Malang. The outputs of the research showed that the highest quantity percentage of the waste materials were the brick (14.70%) and sand (8.20%). The most affecting causing factors were material procurement, residual, and field construction. Based on the waste material category, the percentage of the direct waste was (average) 72.52% and for the indirect waste (average) 27.48%. The average potential waste saving cost was 3.084% which was Rp 10,656,050.00.

Ghoddousi, and Hosseini (2012) also conducted the research that aimed to evaluate the causing factors, quantity, the effect and follow up of the waste materials in the housing project. The outputs showed that the quality, purchasing regulation and quantity became the most dominant factors related to the material management. While the work experience, commitment and loyalty became the factors causing waste material and worker's behavior. The efforts that should be taken according to the respondents were that the material should be kept for the next project or be discarded. The average of the respondents answered that the waste material quantity was 5% based on the case study.

CHAPTER THREE

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

3.1 Introduction

This chapter discussed the research methodology adopted for the study. The chapter outlined the research design, the population of the study, sample and sampling techniques, the methods of data collection, the instrument used to collect the data, validity and reliability of the data collection instrument, the ethical considerations as well as the type of data analysis.

3.2 Research Design

Polit & Hungler (1993) revealed that, "survey obtains information from a sample of people by means of self-report, that is, the people respond to a series of questions posed by the investigator". In order to satisfy the objectives of the dissertation, the study adopted the mixed method survey design approach since the researcher is interested in describing and providing quantitative view of the situation or case under study and answering questions under waste management within various real estate firms situated in Accra. A mixed method survey was adopted because it provides an accurate portrayal or account of the characteristics qualitatively and backed by quantitative analysis.

3.3 Population of the Study

A population is a complete set of elements (persons or objects) that possess some common characteristic defined by the sampling criteria established. The study considered the total population of all real estate developers in Greater Accra. These estate firms might be foreign or local firms operating in Ghana. According to the 2010 population census, the greater Accra

region happened to be the second region with the highest share of the total population of the nation. This represented 16.3% of the entire Ghanaian population. Even though it happened to be the second populated region, it was the first urbanizing region with a proportion of urban population of 90.5% (Ghana Statistical Service, 2010).

Considering the fast urbanization rate of the city, demand for housing has also been on the increase making it a hotcake for real estate developers giving the motivation to carry out the study in the capital city rather than any other regional capital.

3.4 Sample and Sampling Size

A sample is defined as a group of subjects selected from a larger group and including less than all the subjects in that larger group, Kothari (2015). Sampling serves to provide practical ways of ensuring that data collection and processing aspects of research are done whilst making sure that the sample is a true reflection of the population (Fowler Jr, 2013). Alam et al., (2015) defines sample survey as the selection of members from a targeted population to be in a sample for a sample. Purposive sampling techniques was adopted by the researcher for the study. According to this method which belongs to the category of non-probability sampling techniques, sample members are selected on the basis of their knowledge, relationships and expertise regarding a research subject (Freedman et al 2007). The study adopted this method since members interviewed were based on the knowledge of and opinion in the subject areas to enables the researcher answer the research objectives.

According to Passer (2004), a sample frame represents the 'operational definition of the population'. The sample frame must represent the population (Taherdoost 2016). Molenberghs (2010) describes a sample frame as the set of units (individuals) that has non-

zero probability of being selected. In determining the size of a sample in a given population, it is appropriate to use a statistical formula. However, there is no single formula to calculate the size of a population. The two basic factors from the perspective of the statistician is that the larger the sample size the more accurate it can describe a population. The population of the study was 43 (only estate developing firms) in Accra. This 43 firms were found from GREDA as the number of developers under their registration in Accra. The Yamane's formula is used to determine the sample size since the population size is known (Ernest, 2012).

The formula is
$$n = \frac{N}{1 + Ne^2}$$

Where n = Sample size

N = Population of study

e = Limit of tolerance error (using 10%)

1 = Theoretical constant

(Yamane, 1973).

In assigning values to these the sample size was calculated as follows

$$N = 43$$
 =30.06≈30 firms
1+Ne² 1+43(0.1)²

A sample size of 30 was determined and all administered questionnaires were retrieved.

3.5 Methods of Data Collection

The research employed both primary and secondary information sources to answer the research objectives. For the purposes of this research, self-administered questionnaire was used. Both close-ended and open-ended questionnaire were administered which provided participant's emotions, feelings, and opinions regarding a particular research subject and

quantitative representation of coded questions. Also available secondary data with regards to statistics on various waste models practice by institutions was collected and analysed.

3.6 Data Collection Instrument

Questionnaires were used as data collection instrument to determine the best waste management practices among the various estate firms and to management practices employed. Closed ended questionnaires were used to give relevant and concise response for easy analysis. Opened ended questionnaires were also use to give respondents ample freedom to express themselves at length and for their views and opinions to be solicited. Finally, interview guide was also used to help the researcher make follow up interviews through phone calls.

3.7 Validity and Reliability of Data Collection Instrument

Here the Cronbach's Alpha analysis is used to test the validity and reliability of the instrument in each objective area. The Cronbach Alpha was developed by Lee Cronbach in 1951, which measures reliability or internal consistency. "Reliability" is how well a test measures what it should. Cronbach alpha test to see if multiple questions (Likert Scale) survey are reliable. According to Mohson and Dennick (2011), this is grounded in a model called 'tau equivalent model' which assumes that each test measures the same item latent trait on the same scale been used. This gives a unique type of correlation coefficient that estimates the reliability of the survey instrument using the actual response data (i.e., the proportion of variance that is systematic or consistent in the set of test scores (Brown, 1997). The alpha value ranges from 00.0 (if no variance is consistent) to 1.0(if all variance is consistent). Below is the formula for Cronbach alpha; $\alpha = N$. $\bar{c} / \bar{v} + (N-1)$. \bar{c}

Where:

N =the number of items

 $\bar{\mathbf{c}}$ = average covariance between item- pairs.

 $\bar{\mathbf{v}} = \text{average variance}$

A rule of thumb for interpreting alpha for dichotomous questions according to Mohson and Dennick (2011), is as follows;

Interpretation	Excellent	Good	Acceptable	Questionable	Poor	Unacceptable
Scale	α≥ 0.9	α≥0.8	α≥0.7	α≥0.6	α≥0.5	α≤0.5

3.8 Ethical Consideration

The privacy of every participant in this study is of utmost interest to the researcher and hence the informed consent of respondents or participants are sought and the purpose of the study explained to them for their understanding and thus gaining their support. However, in as much as the researcher solicited for their participation, they are made to understand that, their participation is purely on voluntary basis and that they could withdraw at any point in time of the study. Respondents would equally be assured of a high level of confidentiality with respect to all information given out by answering the questionnaire. A written letter was served to the institutions of interest prior to the questionnaire administration.

3.9 Method of Data Analysis

Data was gathered from administered questionnaires which was sorted and coded before analysis. The surveys were then examined for correctness and completeness of questionnaires.

Pre-coded questionnaire data were grouped in accordance to research objectives and then

processed using Microsoft Spread Sheets and the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) used for the analysis. The data analysed is presented in tables, frequency distributions and other pictorial presentations to aid the researcher on easy interpretation. Demographic characteristics where analysed using Descriptive Statistical tools whereas further analysis made used of mean score to analyse Likert scale questions posed in the questionnaire. Also, qualitative responses were analysed by coding and ranking and percentages were calculating.

CHAPTER FOUR

PRESENTATION OF RESULTS

4.1 Overview

This chapter presents the result from data gathered from the field using a research questionnaire as a data collection instrument. Basically the relevance of every research work is how effectively the data gathered could be analyzed and presented for easy inference. This is due the fact that proper analysis and presentation leads to effective findings and recommendations, as every research work aims at finding solution to problems.

4.2 Demographic Characteristics of Respondents

4.2.1 Educational Status of Respondents

The educational status of respondents is presented in Table (4.1) below.

Table 4.1: Educational Status of Respondent

Level of education	Frequency	Percentage	Cumulative
			frequency
Diploma	14	46.7	46.7
Degree	11	36.7	83.3
Master	3	10	93.3
Others	2	6.6	100
Total	30	100	

Source: field survey, 2019

Table 4.1 above indicates respondent's educational status. the table shows that, most of the respondents from the study were diploma holders which represented about 46.7% of the study population, followed by respondents with first degree representing 36.7% of the study population, also about 10.0% the respondents were said to possess a Master degree with only 2% having other qualifications other than master, first degree or diploma degrees. This minority were those with either a professional qualifications or a PhD.

4.2.2 Functional Role of Respondents

Respondents were task to provide their functional role at their various offices and departments. the Table 4.2 gives details of respondents functional roles.

Table 4.2: Functional Roles of Respondents

Functional role	Frequency	Percentage	Cumulative frequency
Project manager	12	40.0	40.0
Engineer	6	20.0	60.0
Architect	3	10.0	70.0
Quantity surveyor	2	6.7	76.7
Others	7	23.3	100
Total	30	100	

Source: field survey, 2019

Table 4.2, above display the functional roles of respondents in their various offices. It shows that, about 6.7% of the respondents were Quantity surveyors, whereas Project managers and Engineers were 40% and 20% of the study population respectively. Also 10% of the study

population were Architects with 23.3% representing other professionals other than the aforementioned.

4.2.3 Work Experience of Respondents

The experience of respondents was measured considering the number of years they have served at their various positions. Table 4.3 present the result of respondent's experience from the field survey

Table 4.3: Work Experience of Respondents

Respondents experience	in	Percentage	Cumulative percentage
years	Frequenc		
	y		
1-3years	10	33.3	33.3
4-6years	10	33.3	66.7
7-10years	7	23.3	90.0
Above 10 years	3	10.0	100
Total	30	100	

Source: field survey, 2019

Table 4.3 above shows respondent's years of experience at their various positions at work. It is palpable that, most of the respondents have worked at their various roles for more than 4 years. About 33.3% of the respondents had a working experience between 1-3 years, with 10% having over 10years working experience. Also 33.3% were said to have about 4-6years of experience at their various positions and respondents who have worked for 7-10years represented some 23.3% of the study population.

4.2.4 Type of Real Estate Firm of Respondents

Respondents were asked to state the category of real estate firms they work with, indicating whether their firms were small, medium or large. The Table below present the result of analysis.

Table 4.4: Type (size) of Real Estate Firm of Respondents

Frequency	Percentage	Cumulative Freq.
5	16.7	16.7
17	56.7	73.4
8	26.7	100
30	100	
	5 17 8	5 16.7 17 56.7 8 26.7

Source: field survey, 2019

From Table 4.4 above, about 16.7% of the respondents indicated that, the size of their real estate firms was small, with some 26.7% of the study population belonging to medium size real estate firms. Majority of respondents were working with real estate firms described as large firms which represented 56.7% of the study population.

4.2.5 Structure of Ownership of Real Estate Firm

The study population included both local and foreign real estate firms working in Ghana, the Table below present the result of respondent's firm's structure of ownership.

Table 4.5: Structure of Ownership of Real Estate Firm

Ownership structure	Frequency	Percentage	Cumulative freq.
Foreign	4	13.3	13.3
Local	26	86.7	100
Total	30	100	

Source: field survey, 2019

Result from the Table above indicates the dominant of local companies among the sampled real estate firms for the study, about 86.7% of the respondents were working with locally owned real estate firm whereas the remaining 13.3% reported to have been working for foreign owned real estate firms in Ghana.

4.2.6 Years of Experience (Existence) of Real Estate Firms

Experience of a real estate firm is very important in measuring their management credentials in any field of study. Respondents were asked to state the experience level of their firms in relation to the number of years such firms have existed. The Table below present the result of respondent's firms' level of experience in the number of years such firms have existed.

Table 4.6: Level of Existence of Firms

Experience firm(years)	of Frequency	Percentage	Cumulative
0-5	8	26.7	26.7
6-10	12	40.0	66.7
11-15	3	10.0	76.7
16-20	3	10.0	86.7
21 and above	4	13.3	100
Total	30	100	

Source: field survey, 2019

The above Table illustrate the experience level of sampled real estate firms in terms of the number of years they have existed. 10% of the respondents stated their firms has been in existence within 11 to 15 years, with 13.3% of the respondents stating that, their firm has been operating for about 21 years and beyond. Another 10% of respondents said their firm is in existence within the last 16 to 20 years now, also some 26.7% of the respondents revealed their firms were in existence within 0 to 5 years, majority of the respondents indicated their firms existed within 6 to 10 years representing 40% of the study population.

4.3 Further Analysis

The study set out to investigate waste management practices among real estate firms in Ghana, specifically, the study had two research objectives, first and foremost the study was to assess the significant waste management practice in the real estate firms, secondly, the study also sought to examine the problems and challenges inherent in the waste management practices.

Objective 1: To assess the significant waste management practices adopted by real estate firms

4.3.1 Significant Waste Management Practices Adopted by Real Estate Firms

From the analysis of waste management practices adopted by the real estate firms in Ghana, Accra to be precise, it can be realized that Re-use of waste management practice has been embraced by most firms. This represent 28% as among others. This percentage of respondents opined that, the re-use system is quite effective and saves or help reduces cost of building materials. They stated that management is aware of implications of waste to the cash flow of the firm and will always appreciate the practice of the Re-use system for cost effectiveness. They further stated that the volume of waste on site is always a worrying thing and this is what

motivate them to Re-use waste generated on site in other not to increase construction waste volumes on site. According to the respondents, one major disadvantage of this system is time consumption and delays as it impedes other activities and could also turns out to give negative cost implications. It is quite clear that findings from literature for instance Agyekum et al., 2012) has it that, the cost of avoidable waste is sometimes higher than the prevention. This is a finding that has also confirm (Al-Hajj and Hamani, 2011) that time and process waste is generated from activities that take time, resources or space without adding value. The time spent in sorting and re-selecting salient and reusable materials to be used for next projects. The awareness of this practice has been good in the industry since majority of the firms practices it for almost 15 years in firms.

The second waste management practice well embraced by the real estate firms happened to be the Recycling of waste. However, they believe that Recycling of waste reduces the expenditure on disposal and the material quantity to be bought as well as the overall cost of the buildings. This finding also confirmed the Scotland (1999) statement that recycling and reclaiming of waste helps reduces the entire cost of a building by 40%. They attest that at a point the cost of disposal of volumes of waste is expensive more than the recycling of such waste motivating them to keep to this practice. This represents 24% of the various waste management practices adopted by most real estate firms in Ghana. They however lamented that this practices equally demands more time and hands as various material need to be carefully selected and segregated for materials to recycle. The predominant disadvantage of most estate firm's opinion was prevalence of contaminants such as lead paints and others. Also this statement is in agreement with (Begum et al. 2006; Chen et al., 2002; Teo and Loosemore, 2001) with the view that construction waste is hazardous to the environment.

Similarly, Papargyropoulou et al. (2011) and Fishbein (1998) among others argued the hostile environmental impact of construction waste. This practices like the waste Re-use system has also been in the system for long since many estate firms believed to have practiced for about 5 to 10 years in operations.

Another well-known waste management practice adopted by many firms is "Disposal of waste". This has been the predominant practices among Ghanaian institutions however, the real estate industry seems to undermine it for so many reasons. The estate firms are not charitable organization and always mindful of the cost implications of wastage of materials on site. This made up of 21% representation among the other practices. This indicates a deviation from the day by day waste creation to the adoption of most effective methods in the treatment of waste among estate firms. The respondents reason or motivations were for the fact that disposal is less expensive and doesn't consume time. To add to these reasons, they stated that though it is easy, less expensive etc., it does not encourage innovations in the industry and making them cling to the old practices or system of operations. Confirming this in literature, Yaun (2013) categorically stated that, "the implementation of technologies such as innovations in construction project will contribute to the generation of construction waste". This people believe that lack of technological advancement and innovations has enable them keep to the old practice of waste management. Another finding from (Polat and Ballard, 2004; Formoso et al., 1999; Womack and Jones, 1996) indicated that, the level of unavoidable waste is dependent on technology. One motivating reason of this practices is lack of space for waste to be kept before recycling or re-use making management tend to opt for disposal.

Waste minimization or Reducing waste generation has still not been embraced by estate firms in Ghana. This represents only 3% of the total waste practices adopted by the firms. Most

estate firms tend to combine this practices with Re-use system of waste management representing 10% of the various practices. These people hold the view that fabrications are made from those waste that are used for different projects. They are much aware of technicalities that need to be in place to reduce waste generation but in the quest to speed up work, human errors and other haste activities causes more waste.

The remaining waste practices opined by others were the combination of any of the various waste management system due to cost, volume of waste, waste type and sources of waste. They try to opt for disposal when waste is small in volume or recycle when waste source can make separation easy for recycling.

4.3.2 Determining the significant waste management practices in the real estate industry.

Table 4.7: Mean Score Ranking of Practices

Waste management practices	Mean Scores	Rank
Waste Re-use	4.38	1 st
Waste recycling	4.22	2^{nd}
Waste minimization	3.89	3^{rd}
Disposal	3.12	$4^{ m th}$

Source: field survey, 2019

Managing and monitoring different waste streams on a construction site requires careful planning. Understanding how wastes occur in the first place will help prevent and manage waste more cost-effectively. Waste streams vary according to the phase of construction, the

method and the type of building making it important to adapt waste management practices to suit the specific site and phase of construction.

The first research objective was to assess the significant waste management practices adopted by real estate firms and to achieve the aim, the researcher employed mean score to identify respondent's expert opinion on significant waste management practices adopted by real estate firms. Table 4.7 above shows that respondents rated waste re-use as the significant waste management practice by their expert opinion with a mean score of 4.38, followed by waste recycling with a mean score of 4.22. The third (3rd) significant waste management practices/approach is said to be waste minimization practice with a mean score of 3.89 and the least significant waste management practices were said to be waste disposal method with 3.12 of mean score.

The findings of the study however are in contradiction with the available literature. According Mark et. al. (2016) the significant waste management practices is said to be waste minimization, followed by waste re-use practice. The third significant waste management according to literature is recycling and at the bottom is waste disposal as least significant waste management practice. Also the findings confirm Scotland (1999) which stated that, the reclaiming and recycling of materials serve as the best. It stated that these methods can save 70% embodied energy and thereby reducing the entire building price by 40%.

Objective 2: To examine the problems and challenges inherent in the waste management practices

4.3.3 Problems and challenges inherent in the waste management practices.

The last research objective seeks to investigate the challenges and problems of waste management facing the real estate firms.

The analysis revealed that, majority of the respondents agree that high cost of waste management is a leading challenge in construction waste management representing 60% of the sampled population, another 33.3% of the respondents indicated that, they strongly agree the assertion, with only 3.3% stating that, they strongly disagree with the assertion that, high cost of waste management contribute to the challenges in construction waste management in the construction industry in Ghana. A small fraction of the respondents representing 3.3% revealed that, they are neutral on the assertion that high cost of waste management is a challenge on waste management practices in the real estate industry.

On the issue of whether or not inadequate skilled labor on waste management is a challenge facing the real estate industry, about 60% of the respondents agree to the assertion with 23.3% stating they strongly agree. Another 10% indicated they disagree and 6.7% strongly disagree. It's obvious that, generally respondents affirm the fact inadequate skilled labor for waste management remains a serious challenge in waste management in the real estate industry. This results are in line with Poon et al., (2001) and (Nagapan et al., 2012; Yuan, 2013; SWCorp Malaysia. 2015.) as they opined that, waste reduction and waste management culture from design stage to the main workers on ground contribute to volume of waste produce on site. Project manager's commitment to waste management practices is said to be a challenge to proper waste management practices in the real estate firms in Ghana, respondents were very

emphatic on their level of agreement. About 53.3% agree and 16.7% strongly agree that, lack of commitment on the part of project managers contribute to the challenges of waste management practice among real estate firms in Ghana. Some 10% of the respondents took a neutral stance, with 13.3% and 6.7% stated they disagree and strongly disagree respectively. The overall impression created by respondent's shows that they generally affirm that the level of commitment by project managers on waste management is an ongoing challenge in the real estate industry.

The environmental protection agency is mandated by law to supervise every activity that is detrimental to the environment and whatever is found in it. Respondents were asked whether the shrieks of this responsibility could lead to challenges of waste management in the real estate industry. From the table above, about 66.7% stated they agree, and another 30% said they strongly agree with only 3.3% disagreeing to the assertion. Generally, from analysis, it can be concluded that, respondents seem to affirm the challenges that comes with poor or inadequate supervision of the EPA that results into none compliance from the part of industry players and hence leads to real challenges in waste management. Literature from Puopiel (2010) confirms the low performance by EPA and as such the results. He further stated that, lack of guidelines from EPA has also contributed enormously to the poor waste management in our institutions.

According to Mark (2015) on site waste reduction is one of the best waste management practices that can lead zero waste generation in the construction industry respondent were asked to give their expert opinion on the subject relating poor attitude of construction workers to reducing waste, about 73.3% forming majority revealed that they agree, and 16.7% stating they strongly agree. Strongly disagree, disagree and neutral all recorded 3.3% each of them.

Table 4.8: Mean score ranking of challenges and problems in the waste management

Waste management challenges	Means Scores	Rank
High cost of waste management	4.89	1 st
Inadequate skilled labor on waste	4.35	$2^{\rm nd}$
management		
Poor attitude of construction	4.18	$3^{\rm rd}$
workers to reduce waste on site		
Poor supervision by EPA	3.87	$4^{ m th}$
Lack of commitment on the part of	3.05	5 th
project managers		

Source: field survey, 2019

The mean Score was used to rank the individual challenges confronting the real estate industry in other to establish which of the challenges happened to be the most severe. The result shows that, high cost of waste management seems to be the most severe ranked at the first position with a mean score of 4.89, this was followed by inadequate skilled labor on waste management with a mean score of 4.35. Poor attitude of construction workers to reduce waste on site was placed 3rd with a mean score of 4.18 and poor supervision by EPA placed 4th with a mean score of 3.87 and the last most severe was the lack of commitment on the part of project managers to waste management which recorded a mean score of 3.05.

CHAPTER FIVE

SUMMARY OF KEY FINDINGS, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Overview

This chapter discusses findings from the analysis of the data gathered from the field survey, conclusions drawn from the study as well as appropriate suggestions of recommendations to guide estate firms, contractors and construction firms and other stakeholders in construction waste management. The objectives of this study was to assess the significant waste management practices adopted by real estate firms and to examine the problems and challenges inherent in the waste management practices.

5.2 Summary of Key Findings

This study had the aim of assessing waste management practices of real estate firms in the greater Accra region. This study is deemed relevant us it will inform construction and real estate industry players to be mindful of consequences of construction waste and its benefits when carefully managed. Table 4.7 of the analysis revealed that, Waste Re-use is the significant waste management practice among real estate developer. This had been ranked 1st with a mean score of 4.38. This per the expert's opinion indicate how cost mindful the estate developers are when using building materials. The least ranked practice happened to be Waste Disposal indicating low tolerance of it with a mean score of 3.12. The analysis revealed that disposal as a type of waste management does not promote innovation in the industry.

Qualitative analysis revealed that the most adopted waste management practice by most real estate developers is Waste Re-use of the 28% of respondents. Majority of the developers embraces re-use of waste in their practices. This finding is in consonance with (Poon et al.

2001; Hao et al. 2008; SWcorp Malaysia, 2015) as it indicates that on site waste sorting could increase the rate of reuse and recycling and directly reduce the logistic cost and dumping cost. Estate developers tend to do barter trade of waste to other estate firms who are in need at a particular stage in the development cycle to avoid dumping and disposal cost.

Lastly the major challenges faced in waste management practice is inability of EPA to fully discharge their supervisory role to ensure that certain principles are adhered to in waste management and to provide waste management policy. This confirms the Samuel et al. (2015) that the ever increasing number of generated construction waste is as a result of no adequate enforcement measures put in place by regulatory authorities. About 66.7% of the respondents believe that absences of their role is challenge. This was followed by high cost of waste management and inadequate skilled labor on waste management which attained 60% endorsement from the respondents leaving lack of commitment on the part of project management to be last with 53.3% of agreement level by respondents. Generally, all these findings confirm the findings of (Nagapan et al. 2012; Yuan, 2013; SWCorp Malaysia 2015.) as major factor influencing construction waste management.

5.3 Conclusion

The purpose of the study was to assess the waste management practice of real estate firms. From the findings and analysis of data, it can be concluded that waste management practice is well embraced by real estate developers. However, the inability of EPA to fully discharge their supervisory role to ensure that certain principles are adhered to in waste management and to provide waste management policy is a major blow to the best realisation of waste management. It can also be concluded that, waste disposal method has been frown on

however, lack of enforcement from regulatory agencies still provide a room for its existence in the industry. The sector has also taken waste management to different level to the extent of barter trading of waste among estate firms.

5.4 Recommendations for the Study

- The researcher recommends that, estate developers diversify waste management practices in other to explore other benefits regarding the volume of waste and type of waste produced and the cost implications.
- 2. It is recommended that the EPA provides a Waste Management Plan or policy and to monitor to ensure that construction industry players adhered to best practices.
- It is strongly recommended that contractors and estate developers get market players
 to market waste products thank barter trading since large volume of waste cannot be
 barter traded entirely.
- 4. It is also recommended that further studies should gear towards waste management type and financial implications to the firms.

REFERENCES

- Amoo, O.M. and Fagbenle, R.L., 2013. Renewable municipal solid waste pathways for energy generation and sustainable development in the Nigerian context. *International Journal of Energy and Environmental Engineering*, 4(1), p.42.
- Al-Hajj, A. and Hamani, K., 2011. Material waste in the UAE construction industry: main causes and minimization practices. *Architectural engineering and design management*, 7(4), pp.221-235.
- Abkenari, M., Rezaei, A. and Pournayeb, N., 2015. Recycling Construction Waste Materials to Reduce the Environmental Pollutants. *World Academy of Science, Engineering and Technology, International Journal of Civil, Environmental, Structural, Construction and Architectural Engineering*, 9(8), pp.1130-1134.
- Amaratunga, D., Haigh, R., Shanmugam, M., Lee, A.J. and Elvitigala, G., 2006.

 Construction industry and women: A review of the barriers. In *Proceedings of the*3rd International SCRI Research Symposium.
- Ameh, O.J. and Daniel, E.I., 2017. Human Resource Management in the Nigerian Construction Firms: Practices and Challenges. *Journal of Construction Business and Management*, 1(2), pp.47-54.
- Agyekum-Mensah, G., Knight, A. and Coffey, C., 2012. 4Es and 4 Poles model of sustainability: Redefining sustainability in the built environment. *Structural Survey*, 30(5), pp.426-442.
- Ajayi, S.O., Oyedele, L.O., Bilal, M., Akinade, O.O., Alaka, H.A., Owolabi, H.A. and Kadiri, K.O., 2015. Waste effectiveness of the construction industry: Understanding the impediments and requisites for improvements. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 102, pp.101-112.

- Alam, S., Ata, M., Bailey, S., Beutler, F., Bizyaev, D., Blazek, J.A., Bolton, A.S., Brownstein, J.R., Burden, A., Chuang, C.H. and Comparat, J., 2017. The clustering of galaxies in the completed SDSS-III Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: cosmological analysis of the DR12 galaxy sample. *Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society*, 470(3), pp.2617-2652.
- Brown, S., Inskip, H. and Barraclough, B., 2000. Causes of the excess mortality of schizophrenia. *The British journal of psychiatry*, 177(3), pp.212-217.
- Berry, D.W., Childs, A.M., Cleve, R., Kothari, R. and Somma, R.D., 2015. Simulating Hamiltonian dynamics with a truncated Taylor series. *Physical review letters*, 114(9), p.090502.
- Boustead, I. and Hancock, G.F., 1979. Handbook of industrial energy analysis. E. Horwood.
- Begun, V.V., Gorenstein, M.I. and Greiner, W., 2009. Crossover to cluster plasma in the gas of quark–gluon bags. *Journal of Physics G: Nuclear and Particle Physics*, *36*(9), p.095005.
- Begum, N.A., Mondal, S., Basu, S., Laskar, R.A. and Mandal, D., 2009. Biogenic synthesis of Au and Ag nanoparticles using aqueous solutions of Black Tea leaf extracts. *Colloids and surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 71(1), pp.113-118.
- Burnley, S., 2001. The impact of the European landfill directive on waste management in the United Kingdom. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 32(3-4), pp.349-358.
- Bossink, B.A.G. and Brouwers, H.J.H., 1996. Construction waste: quantification and source evaluation. *Journal of construction engineering and management*, 122(1), pp.55-60.
- Counselling to prevent human immunodeficiency virus and sexually transmitted diseases: a randomized controlled trial. *Jama*, 280(13), pp.1161-1167.
- Chen, G., Chen, X. and Yue, P.L., 2000. Electrocoagulation and electroflotation of restaurant wastewater. *Journal of environmental engineering*, 126(9), pp.858-863.

- Clement, K. and Kraemer, L., 2000. *Economic development and environmental gain:*European environmental integration and regional competitiveness. Earthscan.
- Cooper, R. and Kaplan, R.S., 1999. Design of cost management systems.
- Cheung, S.O., Tam, C.M., Tam, V., Cheung, K. and Suen, H., 2004. A web-based performance assessment system for environmental protection: We Pass. *Construction Management and Economics*, 22(9), pp.927-935.
- Cheung, Y.W. and Ng, L.K., 1998. International evidence on the stock market and aggregate economic activity. *Journal of empirical finance*, *5*(3), pp.281-296.
- Crawford, R.H. and Treloar, G.J., 2003, January. Validation of the use of Australian inputoutput data for building embodied energy simulation. In *IBPSA 2003: Proceedings of* the Eighth International Building Performance Simulation Association Conference on Building Simulation: For better Building Design (pp. 235-242). IBPSA.
- Chatrchyan, S., Khachatryan, V., Sirunyan, A.M., Tumasyan, A., Adam, W., Aguilo, E., Bergauer, T., Dragicevic, M., Erö, J., Fabjan, C. and Friedl, M., 2012. Observation of a new boson at a mass of 125 GeV with the CMS experiment at the LHC. *Physics Letters B*, 716(1), pp.30-61.
- Dajadian, S.A. and Koch, D.C., 2014. Waste management models and their applications on construction sites. *International Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*, 3(3), pp.91-98.
- Dania, A.A., Kehinde, J.O. and Bala, K., 2007, November. A study of construction material waste management practices by construction firms in Nigeria. In *Proceedings of the 3rd Scottish Conference for Postgraduate Researchers of the Built and Natural Environment, Glasgow* (pp. 121-129).
- Defra, D.E.C.C., 2009. guidelines to Defra/DECC's GHG conversion factors for company reporting. *Department of Foor and Rural Affairs and the Department of Energy and Climate Change, London.*

- Duke, A.K., 2001. A telepresence environment for concurrent life-cycle design and construction (Doctoral dissertation, © Alistair Duke).
- Ekanayake, L. and Ofori, G., 2000. Construction material waste source evaluation.
- Fishbein, B.K., 1998. Building for the future: strategies to reduce construction and demolition waste in municipal projects. INFORM, Incorporated.
- Fowler Jr, F.J., 2013. Survey research methods. Sage publications.
- Faniran, O.O. and Caban, G., 1998. Minimizing waste on construction project sites. *Engineering, construction and architectural management*, *5*(2), pp.182-188.
- Forsythe, P. and Marsden, P., 1999. Modelling construction waste performance—An arising procurement issue. *Profitab. Partn. Constr. Procure*, 427, pp.679-688.
- Freedman, S., Kearney, M. and Lederman, M., 2012. Product recalls, imperfect information, and spillover effects: Lessons from the consumer response to the 2007 toy recalls. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, *94*(2), pp.499-516.
- Giles, F.J., Cortes, J., Jones, D., Bergstrom, D., Kantarjian, H. and Freedman, S.J., 2007. MK-0457, a novel kinase inhibitor, is active in patients with chronic myeloid leukemia or acute lymphocytic leukemia with the T315I BCR-ABL mutation. *Blood*, *109*(2), pp.500-502.
- Ghoddousi, P. and Hosseini, M.R., 2012. A survey of the factors affecting the productivity of construction projects in Iran. *Technological and economic development of economy*, 18(1), pp.99-116.
- Gao, R., Cao, B., Hu, Y., Feng, Z., Wang, D., Hu, W., Chen, J., Jie, Z., Qiu, H., Xu, K. and Xu, X., 2013. Human infection with a novel avian-origin influenza A (H7N9) virus. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *368*(20), pp.1888-1897.

- Gbekor, A., 2003. Domestic waste management. *Ghana Environmental ProtectionAgency* (EPA) Newsletter, 47(5).
- Gilpin, D.A., 1996. Calculation of a new Meeh constant and experimental determination of burn size. *Burns*, 22(8), pp.607-611.
- Garas, G.L., Anis, A.R. and El Gammal, A., 2001. Materials waste in the Egyptian construction industry. *Proceedings IGLC-9, Singapore*, 86.
- Hoornweg, D. and Bhada-Tata, P., 2012. What a waste: a global review of solid waste management (Vol. 15, p. 116). World Bank, Washington, DC.
- Habitat, U.N., 2014. A new strategy of sustainable neighbourhood planning: Five principles. *Nairobi, Kenya: United Nations Human Settlements Programme*.
- Habitat, U.N., 2006. State of the World's Cities 2006/7. New York: United Nations.
- Hanif, M.A., Al-Maskari, A.Y., Al-Sabahi, J.N., Al-Hdhrami, I., Khan, M.M., Al-Azkawi, A. and Hussain, A.I., 2015. Chemical characterisation of bioactive compounds in Medicago sativa growing in the desert of Oman. *Natural product research*, 29(24), pp.2332-2335.
- Hakim, M.A., Juraimi, A.S., Hanafi, M.M., Ismail, M.R., Rafii, M.Y., Islam, M.M. and Selamat, A., 2014. The effect of salinity on growth, ion accumulation and yield of rice varieties. *JAPS: Journal of Animal & Plant Sciences*, 24(3).
- Hemida, M.G., Perera, R.A., Al, R.J., Kayali, G., Siu, L.Y., Wang, P., Chu, K.W., Perlman, S., Ali, M.A., Alnaeem, A. and Guan, Y., 2014. Seroepidemiology of Middle East respiratory syndrome (MERS) coronavirus in Saudi Arabia (1993) and Australia (2014) and characterisation of assay specificity. *Euro surveillance: bulletin Europeen sur les maladies transmissibles*= *European communicable disease bulletin*, 19(23).
- Innes, J.E. and Booher, D.E., 2004. Reframing public participation: strategies for the 21st century. *Planning theory & practice*, 5(4), pp.419-436.

- Ismam, J.N. and Ismail, Z.U.L.H.A.B.R.I., 2014. Sustainable construction waste management strategic implementation model. *WSEAS Transactions on Environment and Development*, 10, pp.48-59.
- Kulatunga, U., Amaratunga, D., Haigh, R. and Rameezdeen, R., 2006. Attitudes and perceptions of construction workforce on construction waste in Sri Lanka. *Management of Environmental Quality: An International Journal*, 17(1), pp.57-72.
- Kamb, M.L., Fishbein, M., Douglas Jr, J.M., Rhodes, F., Rogers, J., Bolan, G., Zenilman, J.,
 Hoxworth, T., Malotte, C.K., Iatesta, M. and Kent, C., 1998. Efficacy of risk-reduction
 Grumbine, R.E., Dore, J. and Xu, J., 2012. Mekong hydropower: drivers of change
 and governance challenges. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 10(2), pp.91-98.
- Lachimpadi, S.K., Pereira, J.J., Taha, M.R. and Mokhtar, M., 2012. Construction waste minimisation comparing conventional and precast construction (Mixed System and IBS) methods in high-rise buildings: A Malaysia case study. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 68, pp.96-103.
- Moya, L., Yamazaki, F., Liu, W. and Yamada, M., 2017. Detection of collapsed buildings due to the 2016 Kumamoto, Japan, earthquake from Lidar data. *Nat. Hazards Earth Syst. Sci*, *18*, p.65.
- Macozoma, D.S., 2002, March. Secondary construction materials: an alternative resource pool for future construction needs. In *Proceedings of Concrete for the 21st Century Eskom Conference Centre, Midrand, Gauteng.*
- McPhee, I., Yarwood, S.J., Scotland, G., Huston, E., Beard, M.B., Ross, A.H., Houslay, E.S. and Houslay, M.D., 1999. Association with the SRC Family Tyrosyl Kinase LYN Triggers a Conformational Change in the Catalytic Region of Human cAMP-specific Phosphodiesterase HSPDE4A4B CONSEQUENCES FOR ROLIPRAM INHIBITION. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(17), pp.11796-11810.

- Morledge, R. and Jackson, F., 2001. Reducing environmental pollution caused by construction plant. *Environmental Management and Health*, *12*(2), pp.191-206.
- Mohd, H.N., Yusoff, M.K., Sulaiman, W.N. and Rahman, R.A., 1998. Issues and problems of solid waste management in Malaysia. *Proceedings on national review on environmental quality management in Malaysia: towards the nest two decades*.
- Nagapan, S., Rahman, I.A. and Asmi, A., 2012. Factors contributing to physical and non-physical waste generation in construction industry. *International Journal of Advances in Applied Sciences*, *I*(1), pp.1-10.
- Napier, T., 2012. Construction waste management. *National Institute of Building Science, Available [online]. at: http://www. wbdg. org/resources/cwmgmt. php Accessed*, 25(05), p.2013.
- Oluwole Akadiri, P. and Olaniran Fadiya, O., 2013. Empirical analysis of the determinants of environmentally sustainable practices in the UK construction industry. *Construction Innovation*, *13*(4), pp.352-373.
- Oko John, A. and Emmanuel Itodo, D., 2013. Professionals' views of material wastage on construction sites and cost overruns. *Organization, technology & management in construction: an international journal*, *5*(1), pp.747-757.
- Osmani, M., Glass, J. and Price, A.D., 2008. Architects' perspectives on construction waste reduction by design. *Waste management*, 28(7), pp.1147-1158.
- Ofori, G., 2012. Developing the Construction Industry in Ghana: the case for a central agency. A concept paper prepared for improving the construction industry in Ghana. National University of Singapore, pp.3-18.
- Ofori, G., 2000, November. Challenges of construction industries in developing countries: Lessons from various countries. In 2nd International Conference on Construction in Developing Countries: Challenges Facing the Construction Industry in Developing Countries, Gaborone, November (Vol. 5, No. 24, pp. 15-17).

- Poon, C.S., Ann, T.W. and Ng, L.H., 2001. On-site sorting of construction and demolition waste in Hong Kong. *Resources, conservation and recycling*, 32(2), pp.157-172.
- Polit, D.F. and Hungler, B.P., 1993. Nursing research: Methods, appraisal, and utilization.
- Papargyropoulou, E., Preece, C., Padfield, R. and Abdullah, A.A., 2011. Sustainable construction waste management in Malaysia: A contractor's perspective.
- Puopiel, F., 2010. Solid waste management in Ghana: the case of Tamale Metropolitan Area (Doctoral dissertation).
- Poon, L.L., Wong, B.W., Ma, E.H., Chan, K.H., Chow, L.M., Abeyewickreme, W., Tangpukdee, N., Yuen, K.Y., Guan, Y., Looareesuwan, S. and Peiris, J.M., 2006. Sensitive and inexpensive molecular test for falciparum malaria: detecting Plasmodium falciparum DNA directly from heat-treated blood by loop-mediated isothermal amplification. *Clinical chemistry*, 52(2), pp.303-306.
- Passer, M.W. and Smith, R.E., 2004. *Psychology: The science of mind and behavior*. McGraw-Hill.
- Pinto, T.D.P. and Agopayan, V., 1994, November. Construction wastes as raw materials for low-cost construction products. In *First International Conference of CIB*, *TG* (Vol. 16).
- Perry, J.L., Reuter, K.G., Kai, M.P., Herlihy, K.P., Jones, S.W., Luft, J.C., Napier, M., Bear, J.E. and DeSimone, J.M., 2012. PEGylated PRINT nanoparticles: the impact of PEG density on protein binding, macrophage association, biodistribution, and pharmacokinetics. *Nano letters*, *12*(10), pp.5304-5310.
- Polat, G. and Ballard, G., 2004, August. Waste in Turkish construction: need for lean construction techniques. In *Proceedings of the 12th Annual Conference of the International Group for Lean Construction IGLC-12*, August, Denmark (pp. 488-501).

- Rani, H.A., 2017. The Impact of construction waste to the environmental on project development in Aceh. *International Journal of Management, Information Technology and Engineering*, *5*(4), pp.1-8.
- Rozman, H.D., Lim, P.P., Abusamah, A., Kumar, R.N., Ismail, H. and Ishak, Z.M., 1999. The physical properties of oil palm Empty Fruit Bunch (EFB) composites made from various thermoplastics. *International Journal of Polymeric Materials*, 44(1-2), pp.179-195.
- Reed, R., Bilos, A., Wilkinson, S. and Schulte, K.W., 2009. International comparison of sustainable rating tools. *Journal of sustainable real estate*, *1*(1), pp.1-22.
- Srivastava, D.K., Berg, B.J.V., Prasad, R., Molina, J.T., Beard, W.A., Tomkinson, A.E. and Wilson, S.H., 1998. Mammalian abasic site base excision repair Identification of the reaction sequence and rate-determining steps. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(33), pp.21203-21209.
- Suryanto, E. and Raharjo, S., Tranggono, dan Sastrohamidjojo, H. 2004. Antiradical Activity of Andaliman (Zantoxylum achantopodium, DC) Fruit Extract. In *International Conference of Functional and Health foods: Market, Technology and Health Benefit. Gajah Mada University. Yogyakarta.*
- Satrija, F., Retnani, E.B., Ridwan, Y. and Tiuria, R., 2001. Potential use of herbal anthelmintics as alternative antiparasitic drugs for small holder farms in developing countries. In *Livestock community and environment. Proceedings of the 10th Conference of the Association of Institutions for Tropical Veterinary Medicine, Denmark.*
- Shen, L.Y., Li Hao, J., Tam, V.W.Y. and Yao, H., 2007. A checklist for assessing sustainability performance of construction projects. *Journal of civil engineering and management*, 13(4), pp.273-281.

- Shah, P., Gaule, A., Sowden, S., Bird, G. and Cook, R., 2015. The 20-item prosopagnosia index (PI20): a self-report instrument for identifying developmental prosopagnosia. *Royal Society Open Science*, 2(6), p.140343.
- Saadi, N.U.R.Z.A.L.I.K.H.A., Ismail, Z.U.L.H.A.B.R.I. and Alias, Z.A.R.I.N.A., 2016. A review of construction waste management and initiatives in Malaysia. *Journal of Sustainability Science and Management*, 11(2), pp.101-114.
- Stocker, T. ed., 2014. Climate change 2013: the physical science basis: Working Group I contribution to the Fifth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press.
- Tavakol, M. and Dennick, R., 2011. Making sense of Cronbach's alpha. *International journal of medical education*, 2, p.53.
- Turkmen, N., Sari, F. and Velioglu, Y.S., 2006. Effects of extraction solvents on concentration and antioxidant activity of black and black mate tea polyphenols determined by ferrous tartrate and Folin–Ciocalteu methods. *Food chemistry*, 99(4), pp.835-841.
- Taherdoost, H., 2016. Sampling methods in research methodology; How to choose a sampling technique for research.
- Teo, M.M.M. and Loosemore, M., 2001. A theory of waste behaviour in the construction industry. *Construction Management and Economics*, *19*(7), pp.741-751.
- Tang, S.D., Burke, R.J. and Srinivasan, A., Micron Technology Inc, 2007. *Method of fabricating a vertical wrap-around-gate field-effect-transistor for high density, low voltage logic and memory array*. U.S. Patent 7,241,655.
- Un-habitat and United Nations Human Settlements Programme, 2010. State of the world's cities 2010/2011: bridging the urban divide. Routledge.
- Viana, D.D., Formoso, C.T. and Kalsaas, B.T., 2012, July. Waste in Construction: a systematic literature review on empirical studies. In *ID Tommelein & CL Pasquire*,

- 20th Annual Conference of the International Group for Lean Construction. San Diego, USA (pp. 18-20).
- Vannieuwenhuyze, J., Loosveldt, G. and Molenberghs, G., 2010. A method for evaluating mode effects in mixed-mode surveys. *Public opinion quarterly*, 74(5), pp.1027-1045.
- Wilson, O.D., Skitmore, M. and Seydel, A., 1998. Waste management in the construction industry.
- Wu, T.Y., Lim, S.L., Lim, P.N. and Shak, K.P.Y., 2014. Biotransformation of biodegradable solid wastes into organic fertilizers using composting or/and vermicomposting. In 17th Conference on Process Integration, Modelling and Optimisation for Energy Saving and Pollution Reduction PRES (Vol. 23).
- Wahi, N., Joseph, C., Tawie, R. and Ikau, R., 2016. Critical review on construction waste control practices: Legislative and waste management perspective. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 224, pp.276-283.
- Wang, J., Li, Z. and Tam, V.W., 2014. Critical factors in effective construction waste minimization at the design stage: a Shenzhen case study, China. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 82, pp.1-7. Yuan, H., 2013. Key indicators for assessing the effectiveness of waste management in construction projects. *Ecological Indicators*, 24, pp.476-484.
- Womack, J.P. and Jones, D.T., 1996. Beyond Toyota: how to root out waste and pursue perfection. *Harvard business review*, 74(5), pp.140-158.
- Yuan, H., 2013. Key indicators for assessing the effectiveness of waste management in construction projects. *Ecological Indicators*, *24*, pp.476-484.
- Yankson, P.W. and Gough, K.V., 2014. Urban low-income housing in Ghana. *Affordable housing in the urban global south: seeking sustainable solutions*, 381.

- Yan, S., Sagoe-Crentsil, K. and Shapiro, G., 2011. Reuse of de-inking sludge from wastepaper recycling in cement mortar products. *Journal of environmental management*, 92(8), pp.2085-2090.
- Yamane, T., 1973. Statistics: An introductory analysis.
- Zhou, X.Q. and Hao, H., 2008. Modelling of compressive behaviour of concrete-like materials at high strain rate. *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, 45(17), pp.4648-4661.
- Zhang, X., Shen, L., Tam, V.W. and Lee, W.W.Y., 2012. Barriers to implement extensive green roof systems: a Hong Kong study. *Renewable and sustainable energy reviews*, 16(1), pp.314-319.

APPENDIX

KWAME NKRUMAH UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY (KNUST)

RESEARCH DATA INSTRUMENT

WASTE MANAGEMENT PRACTICES OF REAL ESTATE FIRMS

Dear Respondent

This Data Instrument forms part of a Master's thesis research at the Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology. The series of statements below are designed to study the Waste Management Practices of Real Estate firms (the case of real estate firms in Accra). You are kindly requested to indicate your opinion by answering the questions provided with sincerity and honesty. If your option does not match exactly with any one of the options provided, please choose the one that is closest to your considered judgment, and best fits or describes the actual situation that prevails in the institution.

This exercise is purely for academic purposes and all information provided will be treated in the strictest confidence. You have the freedom or right to withdraw your participation at any time. If you have any questions about the research, please call Mr. Abdulai Wumbei (0547983184).

Thank you very much for your co-operation.

SECTION A

(Background Information)

This section seeks to explore respondent's demographic characteristics.

1.	What is your education level? Diploma level [] Degree level [] Master level. [] PhD level [] others (specify)
2.	What is your function role? Project manager [] Engineer [] Architect [] Quantity surveyor [] other (please specify)
3.	Please state your working experience. 1- 3years [] 3- 6 years [] 6- 10 years [] 10 years and above []
4.	Type of real estate firm. Medium [], Large [], Small []
5.	structure of ownership: Foreign [], Local []
6.	Years of company existence: 0 to 5 [], 6 to 10 [], 11 to 15 [], 16 to 20 [], 21+ []

SECTION B

Ascertaining best waste management practice in the real estate sector

7. Rank the following waste management practices on the scale of excellent to extremely poor.

Items	Ranking: Excellent=1, Very good= 2,
	Good= 3, Average=4, Poor = 5,
	Extremely poor=6
Minimizing or Reducing waste	
generation	
Re-use of waste generated	
Recycling of waste generated	
Disposal	

SECTION C

<u>Identify the various waste management practices adopted by real estate firms</u>

This section seeks to identify the various waste management practice used by the sampled real estate firms in the greater Accra region.

	sampled rear estate firms in the greater recta region.
8.	Kindly indicate the waste management practice that has been adopted by your firm
9.	What motivate the choice of the above mentioned method by your firm?
10.	How long have you practiced the above mentioned waste management method at your
	firm?
11.	Kindly stated advantages and disadvantages of the used method in your firm.
	i. Advantages
	ii. Disadvantages

SECTION D

	
	<u>Identify the problems and challenges inherent in the waste management practices</u>
	This section seeks to identify the problems and challenges confronting the real estate
	industry on waste management.
12.	High cost of waste management is a deterring factor on waste management practices
	among real estate firms. A) Strongly disagree []B) Disagree []C) Neutral [] D)
	Agree [] E) Strongly agree []
13.	Inadequate skilled labor on waste management is one of the challenges facing real
	estate firms. A) Strongly disagree [] B) Disagree [] C) Neutral [] D) Agree []
	E) Strongly agree []
14.	Lack of commitment on the part of project managers is a problem on waste
	management practice by real estate firms. A) Strongly disagree [] B) Disagree [] C)
	Neutral [] D) Agree [] E) Strongly agree []
15.	Poor supervision by Environmental Protection Agency is a challenge on waste
	management practice by real estate firms. A) Strongly disagree [] B) Disagree [] C)
	Neutral [] D) Agree [] E) Strongly agree []
16.	Poor attitude of construction workers to reducing waste at construction site is a

problem on waste management in the real estate industry. A) Strongly disagree [] B)

Disagree [] C) Neutral [] D) Agree [] E) Strongly agree []